2007

William Kurt Dobson v. Cindy Delaughter Cooper : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION

Jurisdiction of this Court is pursuant to the provisions of Utah Code Ann. §78-2-2(j) (1953), as amended.

ISSUES PRESENTED

ISSUE: **Did the Lower Court Err by Failing to Realize That There Were Disputed Issues of Material Facts That Should Have Precluded the Lower Court from Granting a Motion for Summary Judgment.**

Standard of Review: “Summary judgment is appropriate only when there is no genuine issue of material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. The Court must view all facts and inferences in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party, but it may not assume facts for which no evidence is offered. We review a trial court’s order granting summary judgment for correctness.” *Mountain West Surgical Center v. Hospital Corp. of Utah*, 2007 UT 92, ¶10. Under a correctness review the lower court is afforded no deference. *Afridi v. State Farm Mut. Auto Ins. Co.*, 2005 UT 53, ¶5, 122 P.3d 596. Review of fraudulent intent fell under the correctness standard of the summary judgment review. *Lakeside Lumber Products, Inc. v. Evans*, 2005 UT App 87, ¶8, P.3d 154.

This issue was preserved in the lower court. R. 500-503.

There were further issues that could also be raised¹ but the granting of summary

¹ **Another issue was whether the evidence was sufficient to prove by clear and convincing evidence that all of the elements of fraud were met.**

Standard of Review: Whether there was sufficient evidence to support a finding is reviewed under the clearly erroneous standard. *Pasker, Gould, Ames & Weaver v. Morse*, 887 P.2d 872, 875 (Utah Ct. App. 1994). “To demonstrate that the trial court’s findings of fact are clearly erroneous the appellant must first marshal all the evidence in

judgment when there are disputed issues of facts is so fundamentally inappropriate that that issue should be sufficient alone to warrant reversal of the lower courts granting of the summary judgment.

CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS AND STATUTES
DETERMINATIVE OF THE APPEAL

None.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE
(Introduction)

This is an appeal from a decision of the Third District Court, Honorable Robert P. Faust presiding, granting Kurt Summary Judgment in this matter. The lower court ruled on motion that Cindy had defrauded Kurt. In particular, the lower court concluded on motion that Kurt relied on a false statement made by Cindy and had entered into a settlement where he was to pay child support in excess of the statutory guidelines. However, since there was evidence that the child support was to compensate for Kurt's potentially lopsided property allocation the Decree of Divorce was set aside to determine the amount of child support that should be paid and the property distribution. No damages were awarded inasmuch as the lower court in the Divorce Action could determine those damages, if any, and offset them against the property award, if necessary and available. A copy of the lower court's Memorandum Decision is attached hereto as Addendum "A."

After a fifteen year marriage Cindy and Kurt, while both were represented by legal counsel, divorced in May 2004. In an independent action filed in 2005 Kurt claimed that

support of those findings. *Id.* The issue was preserved for appeal in the lower court. R. 503-521.

Cindy had made a statement in December 2003 about her health that defrauded Kurt to enter a Settlement Agreement in late April 2004 and the entry of the Decree in May 2004. The Settlement Agreement and the Decree provided for child support that was greater than what was provided by the standard guidelines for child support and was unmodifiable except for health concerns of Kurt. The fact that the amount was greater than the guidelines was specifically set forth in the Settlement Agreement and Decree. Kurt brought the action to set aside the child support provision and to leave the remaining portions of the Decree of Divorce in force. Kurt and Cindy had agreed to the child support amount that would assure Cindy of an amount of money to provide to Cindy a property settlement since Kurt obtained a lopsided allocation of the marital estate.

Kurt's claim was made under a fraud theory. However, there are genuine issues of material facts that should have precluded the lower court from granting a Motion for Summary Judgment and entering a judgment in favor of Kurt. The facts, taken in a light most favorable to Cindy, show that Kurt should not have been granted Summary Judgment *as a matter of law*.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The following facts are taken in a light most favorable to Cindy and are supported by the record. These facts demonstrate that the trier of facts on trial could determine that Kurt had not been defrauded by Cindy.

1. Kurt and Cindy were married on April 29, 1989. R. 560, ¶2.
2. Kurt filed for divorce (a second filing during the marriage) on July 3, 2003 in

the matter entitled:

William Kurt Dobson v. Cindy Delaughter Cooper
Civil No. 050922651
Third District Court
State of Utah

R. 561, ¶¶4 - 5.

3. Kurt was represented by competent and experienced legal counsel. R. 429, ¶3.

4. The divorce proceedings were particularly contested, mean-spirited, excessively volatile and marked by distrust. The divorce action was hotly contested on all issues throughout the litigation. R. 560–61, ¶3. Cindy was very suspicious of Kurt and Kurt of her. The parties' distrust of one another went not only to financial issues but also their personal lives and their relationships with their children. R. 433, ¶¶15 -16. The contested issues included property allocation, child support, alimony\spousal support, debt allocation and other issues incident to divorcing spouses and parents. Almost everything required litigation. R. 429, ¶5.

5. Cindy demanded \$4,500.00\month in child support, premised upon Cindy not going to work outside the home and being a stay-at-home mother (as Cindy and Kurt had previously discussed when they were together) *and* to compensate for an unequal division of assets. Kurt wanted to keep very valuable assets, including expensive cars (including a race car) and businesses (Kurt told Cindy that he did not want her to know what was going on in those businesses). The amount to be paid was designated as child support instead of alimony so that Cindy would be entitled to receive the amount even if Cindy remarried and would be a counterbalance for the property distribution. R. 563–64, ¶7; R. 565, ¶ 9; R. 565,

¶10; R. 584–85, ¶48.. *See also* R. 561–63, ¶6. A copy of the Decree of Divorce is attached hereto as Addendum “B.”

6. Kurt made it very difficult for Cindy to find out any information about the assets and had kept all the finances secret from Cindy. Kurt told Cindy on multiple occasions:

“You will never find where I put the money”

“You would never have access to any of the businesses.”

“I have money in other peoples’ names. You’ll never find it.”

“I’ve hidden it in places where you will never find it.”

“I’ll have you in a trailer park if you don’t do what I say.”

Cindy wanted to end the divorce process and just have enough to care for the children. R. 564–65, ¶8.

7. The property distribution and value of the property at the time of the divorce was as follows:

To Kurt: \$757,250.00 (plus unknown values for business assets, retirement accounts and bank accounts)

To Cindy: \$148,000.00

Some assets were allocated equally between Kurt and Cindy that were not valued at the time that are in addition to the amounts above. A more detailed description of the division of assets is set forth in Addendum “E” attached hereto. R. 565–68, ¶11.

8. Kurt was anxious to have the Decree entered because he had a an anticipated large windfall coming that Cindy did not know about. In an affidavit Kurt made in the

Divorce Action (first time Cindy learned of it) Kurt stated:

When the divorce was resolved I had an income history of approximately \$200,000.00 a year base and I was the founder of a company that I thought was one or two months away from a significant multi-million dollar venture capital investment. My salary was scheduled to increase along with a schedule of bonuses. However, shortly after the divorce was settled the company (S5 Wireless) lost the venture capital investor and my salary became unstable and by October I left the company to obtain a position where I could be paid in a more stable manner.

R. 544, ¶6. Kurt never told Cindy about this “multi-million dollar” development. That may have explained why Kurt was so anxious to have the decree entered. R. 568, ¶12.

9. In the midst of the divorce proceedings Cindy began experiencing some health concerns. Cindy’s initial medical concerns evidenced themselves in June 2003 but most evidence of illness was after having cosmetic surgery where a suspicious mole was found.

As things progressed Cindy experienced the following:

- ▶ **Pain through Cindy’s back area** (June 2003 through the present); currently Cindy has a spot near Cindy’s kidney that constantly remains in pain
- ▶ **Nausea and Vomiting** (began in September 2003 and continued, getting worse, through December and then declined through March 2004)
- ▶ **Urinating blood** (starting August 2003 and intermittently in November 2003, February 2004 and occasionally afterwards)
- ▶ **Hair falling out** (starting in August 2003 through December 2003)
- ▶ **Abnormal Menstrual Cycles** ; excessive bleeding for weeks or no menstrual period at all (excessive bleeding starting August 2003 through December 2003\January 2004 then menstrual stopped.
- ▶ **Excessive weight loss**; Cindy lost 50 pounds including the maximum

of 10 pounds lost from the liposuction (beginning August 2003 through January 2004)

- ▶ **Anxiety and Depression;** Cindy could not sleep, was lethargic and weak; could not keep food down; had dark circles under Cindy's eyes (starting in August 2003 through December 2003; with intermittent episodes afterwards)

R. 322; 325; 331; 569, ¶13.

10. Cindy initially went to Dr. John Clayton, a cosmetic surgeon to have some cosmetic surgery (liposuction). Kurt had just left Cindy for a twenty-six year old woman that he had met on the Millionaires.com. This new woman was living in New York and was looking for a husband so she could stay in the United States. Kurt began to treat Cindy and the children like they were a nuisance. Needless to say, this sent Cindy into an emotional tailspin. Hence, Cindy turned to liposuction. However, it was quite fortuitous that Cindy had the liposuction. R. 569–70, ¶14.

11. Dr. Clayton performed the liposuction surgery in August 2003 and during the surgery a suspicious mole was discovered on Cindy's back. After the surgery (one week later) Dr. Clayton called Cindy into his office and expressed grave concern for Cindy. Dr. Clayton told Cindy that he took the liberty of taking a specimen of the mole and sent it to pathology. Dr. Clayton told Cindy that the mole was suspicious and that Cindy should have it checked by an oncologist (cancer specialist) immediately. Dr. Clayton told Cindy that if he had not detected the mole that Cindy would be dead within a year. Cindy believed at that time that she had cancer. That information really upset Cindy and Cindy was crying in Dr. Clayton's office. Cindy was already an emotional wreck from the divorce. Dr. Clayton's

office made the appointment with the oncologist for within a week of Cindy's meeting with Dr. Clayton. The fact that the appointment had been made so quickly and to an oncologist instead of a dermatologist further upset Cindy and caused Cindy to believe that the condition was really serious. Cindy knew an oncologist to be a cancer specialist. R. 322; 570, ¶15.

12. On the referral of Dr. Clayton, Cindy met in October 2003 with Rick D. Noyes, M.D., an oncologist, to continue the examination regarding the suspicious mole that was on Cindy's left mid back where the kidney is located (the same spot where Cindy had kidney pain). At that time Dr. Noyes examined Cindy fully for moles and told Cindy that she had what appeared to be a melanoma. Dr. Noyes told Cindy that the suspicious mole appeared to be serious but that Cindy was not to worry. Nonetheless, Cindy was crying and was upset. Cindy understood a melanoma to be a skin cancer that could be potentially dangerous. Cindy believed Dr. Noyes had a pathology report from Dr. Clayton at that meeting. According to Dr. Noyes' recommendation they scheduled another surgery for October 27, 2003 to perform what Dr. Noyes told Cindy was a wide excision to remove the melanoma. That surgery was done and a portion of the skin where the mole was previously located was also removed. The incision left a scar that is approximately 8 inches long that Cindy has to this day. During this time there were Court hearings scheduled. Dr. Noyes wrote a note for Cindy to excuse Cindy from a court hearing. A copy of that note is attached as "Addendum "C." Dr. Noyes gave Cindy that note. The note, on Dr. Noyes stationary\prescription pad said, among other things:

Special Instructions:

[Hand Written] Maybe be (sic) extended due to recovery times.
Pt. [patient] is to have surgery on the 27th of October. She will

be unable to attend court. *Pt. [patient] is having a wide excision of melanoma.*

(Emphasis added.) Cindy read the note and understood it to mean that she had melanoma since that is what Dr. Noyes said that it was. That note was used to excuse Cindy from the Court hearing. R. 323; 570–71, ¶16, 430, ¶8..

13. In early November 2003 Cindy went back to have the incision on Cindy's back for the melanoma excision treated because the incision had opened up unexpectedly and became infected. Those treatments were done in the emergency room and at home with IV antibiotics. R. 571–72, ¶17.

14. Dr. Noyes told Cindy that she had melanoma. Cindy was devastated and worried and concerned about herself and the children. Cindy was particularly concerned because there was a family history of melanoma that had lead to a death. Also, Cindy had a family history of kidney problems. That family history added to Cindy's anxiety and fears. Cindy's emotional state at that time was a deep depression and Cindy had anxiety attacks. R. 323; 572, ¶18.

15. Cindy went back to Dr. Noyes after the excision. Dr. Noyes told Cindy that he thought that he had gotten all the melanoma but that Cindy was to have checkups every three to six months to make sure the condition did not return. It frightened Cindy that this was so serious that she had to go back so frequently for checkups. At no time did Dr. Noyes say that Cindy had not had a melanoma. Cindy understood that she had melanoma and that she had additional precautions she had to take (the check ups) in the future to detect reoccurrence. R. 572, ¶19

16. During the period when the mole was being treated Cindy was also experiencing severe pain in Cindy's mid-back region where the melanoma was to be removed. That pain frightened her because it was in the same area as the melanoma. Cindy went to a hospital emergency service. A physician there referred Cindy to a urologist (Dr. George W. Middleton) for examination. R. 572, ¶20.

17. Just prior to the excision to remove what was told to Cindy to be a melanoma, Cindy met with Dr. Middleton, an urologist, who ran several tests on Cindy. Dr. Middleton told Cindy that the tests revealed kidney problems including blockages in both kidneys. Dr. Middleton put Cindy on pain medication and informed her that she needed surgery. A few days later, on October 24, 2003, Cindy returned to Cottonwood Hospital where Dr. Middleton's performed a procedure to open the blockage. Just three days later Cindy had the "wide excision of melanoma" surgery performed by Dr. Noyes. Dr. Middleton informed Cindy that she needed additional kidney blockage surgery. Cindy had additional kidney procedures by Dr. Middleton on November 13, 2003 and March 22, 2004. Dr. Middleton also wrote Cindy a note for an excuse for Cindy not being in court, a copy of which is attached as "Addendum "D." R. 572-73, ¶21(1st).

18. During this same time in another visit to the emergency room a doctor explained to Cindy that she was having symptoms that were likely related in some way to the melanoma. The doctor told Cindy that he was worried that there was still melanoma present

in her body. R. 573, ¶21(2nd).

19. Cindy was really scared about her health. While Cindy had been trained as a registered nurse Cindy had not practiced any nursing for a period of fifteen (15) years prior to this occurrence. Cindy was a registered nurse for a short time only in the years 1991 to 1993 on a medical unit. Cindy had no exposure to melanoma except for her grandmother who died of it years previously and Cindy knew that it could be potentially very dangerous. From what was explained to Cindy by Dr. Noyes, Cindy also knew that if the melanoma had spread to other parts of the body that it could be even more dangerous and even deadly. However, Cindy is not a doctor and she does not make diagnoses of illness, and especially serious illness. However, because Cindy was having multiple health related concerns at the same time Cindy was extremely fearful that they were all related to melanoma and could evidence that the melanoma was a more serious type. Again, that caused Cindy a great deal of stress and anxiety. R. 573–74, ¶ 22. On December 31, 2003 Cindy hastily signed an affidavit that indicated that she had stage 3 melanoma and an operation on her thyroid, failing to catch the reference to stage 3 and thyroid. R. 590, ¶ 66.

20. Between the painful kidney blockages and the melanoma excision, Cindy was in very bad shape emotionally and was not able to focus much on the divorce at hand. Cindy did not handle stress very well and the stress of the divorce was overwhelming her. Cindy did not want the controversy and wanted the divorce to conclude. Cindy wanted her health

back. The treatments for the melanoma seemed successful but, as with any form of cancer, required follow up visits to assure Cindy's condition was improving and that the melanoma was not returning or spreading. R. 574, ¶23.

21. For the period of September 2003 to mid- to late December 2003, Cindy was emotionally fragile. Cindy had become extremely ill. Cindy lost a lot of weight (more so than the cosmetic surgery), her hair began to fall out, she was yellow in appearance with dark black circles under her eyes, her menstrual cycles were irregular and Cindy had significant uncontrolled bleeding for longer than usual periods of time and she was in pain a substantial amount of time. Cindy went to the Emergency Room several times for pain. Cindy was essentially incapacitated during this time. She was confined to her bed most of the time. Cindy even had IV medications at her home. R. 694, ¶¶6 and 7.

22. The divorce proceedings caused Cindy a great deal of stress between August 2003 and May 2004. The increased stress seemed to complicate Cindy's ongoing kidney problems. During this time Cindy visited with doctors and specialists at various hospitals and clinics at least 38 times. R. 576, ¶30.

23. Kurt's sister, Tamara, however, after seeing Cindy, reported to Kurt that Cindy was "not overly concerned about her health, but rather her concern was with the impending divorce." Cindy's indifference to her medical condition should have signaled to Kurt that Cindy's condition was not too serious. R. 576, ¶29.

24. Kurt made little contact with the children in the fall of 2003 and showed no concern for Cindy's health. R. 694–95, ¶¶8-9.

25. Beginning in January 2004 Cindy's health began to improve but Cindy was still having some health problems. They were:

- | | |
|-----------------------------|------------------------------------|
| ▶ Episodes with kidney pain | ▶ Episodes of Headaches (Migraine) |
| ▶ High blood pressure | ▶ Increased lipase levels |

R. 576, ¶31.

26. Cindy did not see Kurt frequently from January 1, 2004 through April 26, 2004 when the Settlement Agreement for entry of the Decree of Divorce was signed. Kurt did not take the children often during this time and Cindy and Kurt had little interaction except for emails and an occasional visit with each other. However, Cindy and Kurt did meet and talk on at least the following occasions where the following conversations were held:

- ▶ **December 2003: Mediation sessions late December:** No mention of Cindy's health ever came up. R. 577, ¶33, R. 577–78, ¶34.²
- ▶ **January 1, 2004: Cindy told Kurt:** That Cindy was going to move to

² On December 23, 2003 Kurt and Cindy had mediation scheduled. That was Cindy's birthday. Cindy arrived with her lawyer. Cindy and her lawyer waited for Kurt to arrive. After about an hour Kurt was called who said that he was in California for vacation with Zivile, his girlfriend. Later that day Cindy called Kurt and asked why he would schedule a mediation for that day and not show up. Kurt responded saying again that he was in California on vacation with Zivile. Kurt, with sarcasm, also said: "Did you have fun in mediation on your birthday? How much did it cost you?" R. 577–78, ¶34.

Dallas, Texas to live to be closer to Cindy's mother and father.

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