2007

William Kurt Dobson v. Cindy Delaughter Cooper : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This Court should affirm the district court's June 6, 2007 Memorandum Decision. There were no genuine disputes of material fact sufficient to preclude the district court's determination that summary judgment in favor of Mr. Dobson was appropriate. Ms. Cooper has herself admitted that she stated numerous times that she had stage three or four melanoma cancer, and Ms. Cooper admits now that this was false. The factual allegations made at the district court are taken from either Ms. Cooper herself, her physicians, or sworn Affidavits. Ms. Cooper did not present the trial court, or this Court, with any ***genuine*** dispute with regard to any of Mr. Dobson's factual allegations. Ms. Cooper attempted to "muddy" the factual allegations before the trial court by referring to matters immaterial to whether or not she fraudulently misrepresented having cancer to Mr. Dobson. However, with regard to whether she defrauded Mr. Dobson, the alleged "disputes" of fact were not genuine or material in any manner.

The facts regarding Ms. Cooper's treatment and removal of her mole are not in dispute and evidence Ms. Cooper fraudulently misrepresented her condition to Mr. Dobson, as well as the Court. It is undisputed she told Kurt, as well as others, she had melanoma cancer. It is undisputed she utilized this claim to influence Mr. Dobson into being induced to be generous beyond reason in the settlement

agreement. It is undisputed that Mr. Dobson relied to his extreme detriment upon Ms. Cooper's representation that she had melanoma cancer, as Mr. Dobson was ignorant to the fact that Ms. Cooper was lying. It is undisputed that the settlement agreement was in fact generous in providing child support well beyond that required by Utah law. It is undisputed that Ms. Cooper did not have melanoma cancer, that her claim was absolutely false, and that she knew this the entire time she was telling Mr. Dobson, and others, that she had terminal melanoma cancer. Simply, Mr. Dobson was defrauded by Ms. Cooper's representation that she had melanoma cancer.

As a result of the aforementioned, this Court should enter an order affirming the district court's June 6, 2007 Memorandum Decision.

ARGUMENT

I. The District Court Correctly Determined That There Were No Disputed Issues Of Material Fact.

Utah R. Civ. P. 56 requires that “judgment sought shall be rendered if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no *genuine issue* as to any *material fact* and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law.”

(emphasis added). It has been long recognized by Utah Courts that “[t]he foregoing rule does not preclude summary judgment simply whenever some fact remains in dispute, but only when a material fact is *genuinely* controverted.”

Heglar Ranch, Inc. v. Stillman, 619 P.2d 1390, 1391 (Utah 1980) (emphasis added). Appellant cites this Court to a number of cases indicating the motion for summary judgment standard, and every case cited correctly indicates that there must a *genuine* issue of *material* fact to preclude summary judgment. (Brief of Appellant at pages 22-25.)

One aspect of the motion for summary judgment standard that is missing from the Brief of Appellant, but that has been stated by the Supreme Court of Utah, is that “[a]llegations of a pleading or *factual conclusion of an affidavit* are insufficient to raise a genuine issue of fact.” *Winter v. Northwest Pipeline Corp.*, 820 P.2d 916, 919 (Utah 1991) (emphasis added). One example of an attempt by

Ms. Cooper to create an issue of fact through her post-deposition affidavit is found in paragraph 12 of the Brief of Appellant. In that paragraph, citing her affidavit for support, Ms. Cooper indicates that she thought she had melanoma after having a mole removed because Dr. Noyes wrote on a note that she had a melanoma. (Brief of Appellant at page 8.) Ms. Cooper tells this Court that Dr. Noyes gave her that note. Reading paragraph 12, one gets the impression Dr. Noyes was very concerned about this “melanoma.” However, the real fact of the matter is that Cindy Cooper testified in her deposition that she got this note because “I went in and said can you give me an excuse [not to attend a hearing before Judge Henriod], so they wrote down that I had melanoma.” (R. 323.) In reality, Ms. Cooper had a non-cancerous mole removed from her back. (R. 389.)

Mr. Dobson is confident that upon this Court’s review of the factual content of the record that is material to his fraudulent misrepresentation claim, this Court will determine, as the trial court did, that there are no genuine disputes of material fact. Ms. Cooper presents many “alleged” disputes of immaterial facts, and many non-genuine purported disputes, but does not present any genuine disputes of material fact.

Here, even on appeal, Ms. Cooper is still attempting to litigate a divorce and not a fraud action. Many facts related to the divorce are simply immaterial to the

issue of whether or not Ms. Cooper committed a fraudulent misrepresentation when she lied to Mr. Dobson and the Third District Court. *See* (Brief of Appellant at ¶¶ 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 26, 27, 29, 31, 32, 33, 34, 35, 36, 37 (all immaterial to Mr. Dobson’s fraudulent misrepresentation claim).)

Further, facts relating to Ms. Cooper’s general well-being and health, are immaterial to the extent they do not *specifically* address her alleged diagnosis of melanoma cancer, her learning she did not have melanoma cancer upon a biopsy of a mole removed from her back, and her subsequent repeated misrepresentations and lies that she did in fact have terminal melanoma cancer that would require chemotherapy treatment. *See* (Brief of Appellant at ¶¶ 9, 10, 16, 17, 18, 19, 20, 21, 22, 25, 27, 28, 29, 30) (all immaterial to an alleged diagnosis of melanoma cancer and subsequent negative biopsy and thus, immaterial to Mr. Dobson’s fraudulent misrepresentation claim).) Other facts contained in the fifty-one page Brief of Appellant are just obviously irrelevant, let alone immaterial, to this action and appeal. *See* (Brief of Appellant at ¶¶ 10, 21, 22, 24, 27, 29.)

Also, “speculation falls short of creating a genuine issue of material fact sufficient to survive summary judgment.” *Gildea v. Guardian Title Co. of Utah*, 970 P.2d 1265, 1270 (Utah 1998). Thus, it matters not that something “should have signaled” or that someone else thinks someone “showed no concern.” *See*

(Brief of Appellant at ¶¶ 23-24.) Paragraphs 23 and 24 are both clearly speculative allegations, they do not contain material facts.

It is also speculative, let alone disingenuous, to assert now that “Cindy had no intention to defraud any person . . . she had no intention to misstate any fact but she read the affidavit, written by counsel, too quickly and inadvertently stated that the melanoma was a stage 3 and that it was her thyroid she had surgery on. . . .

Cindy did not make the statement knowingly believing it to be false or recklessly.”

(Brief of Appellant at ¶ 38, R. 594, ¶ 84.) Not only are these statements pure speculation, conjecture, and hypothesis, they ignore the simple legal rule that affidavits are sworn statements, presumed to be admissible in evidence. *See* Utah R. Civ. P. 56(e). Further, when Affidavits are made in bad faith “the court shall forthwith order the party presenting them to pay the other party the amount of reasonable expenses which the filing of the affidavits caused, including reasonable attorney’s fees, and any offending party or attorney may be adjudged guilty of contempt.” Utah R. Civ. P. 56(g). Accordingly, Ms. Cooper’s attempt to retract, or minimize, a false statement made in a sworn affidavit should be viewed with skepticism, especially when the statement helped her at the time it was made.

Simply, Ms. Cooper has repeatedly lied about her melanoma cancer and she knew full well she was misrepresenting such to Judge Henriod. (R. 752 (Judge Faust’s

Memorandum Decision holding “Defendant repeatedly misrepresented her medical condition[.]”).)

Finally, Appellant’s alleged facts found in paragraphs 31 and 32 of the Brief of Appellant are particularly telling. These facts address what Ms. Cooper would have this Court believe is Mr. Dobson’s lackadaisical attitude towards Ms. Cooper’s health and medical condition and also that Mr. Dobson, or his legal counsel, never informed Ms. Cooper or her legal counsel that Mr. Dobson was concerned about Ms. Cooper’s health and medical care. These facts indicate the manner in which Ms. Cooper engages in double-speak to obtain her desired end result. On the one hand, Ms. Cooper wants this Court to believe she was fine and healthy and never told Mr. Dobson about her melanoma cancer, yet on the other hand, she wants this Court to feel as if Mr. Dobson was uncaring and unsympathetic to Ms. Cooper’s condition. The fact is, Ms. Cooper told Mr. Dobson she had melanoma cancer and she did so knowing full well that Mr. Dobson would be induced to act on that false information. Otherwise, she would not have mentioned this false misrepresentation to Mr. Dobson, especially in light of the undisputed limited frequency of their conversations and the overall tense circumstances surrounding their divorce.

Clearly there are not any genuine disputes of material fact in this situation.

The facts material to whether or not Ms. Cooper engaged in a fraudulent misrepresentation are undisputed and quite apparent. Ms. Cooper cannot rely on immaterial facts to “muddy” the facts and create factual disputes. Factual disputes must be genuine. Factual conclusions in affidavits will not suffice and cannot be considered by this Court. *See Winter*, 820 P.2d at 919. Here, the trial court was correct in finding no genuine dispute as to any material facts. This Court should affirm that determination.

II. The District Court Was Correct In Granting Plaintiff’s Motion For Summary Judgment Because The Evidence Presented Clearly And Convincingly Met Each Of The Elements Of Fraudulent Misrepresentation.

Initially, Mr. Dobson would note that Defendant and Appellant Ms. Cooper did not affirmatively indicate that this was an issue for appeal. Rather, this issue was indicated only in a footnote to the Brief of Appellant. Ms. Cooper’s position is that “the granting of summary judgment when there are disputed issues of facts is so fundamentally inappropriate that that issue should be sufficient alone to warrant reversal of the lower court[] . . .” (Brief of Appellant at p. 1-2.) However, because there are no disputes of material fact, Mr. Dobson will address this issue, as this Court might be inclined to undertake this analysis even in light of Ms. Cooper’s failure to properly present this issue on appeal.

In Divorce actions, Utah courts have allowed the aggrieved party to bring an

independent action to obtain relief from fraudulent conduct similar to that of Ms.

Cooper. For example:

It has long been recognized by state and federal courts alike that an independent equitable action for relief from a prior judgment is available in addition to those remedies afforded under Rule 60(b). An independent action for fraud under facts as alleged by the defendant here may be appropriate because an intentional act by a party in a divorce action which prevents the opposing party from making a full defense amounts to fraud upon the opposing party, as well as upon justice, justifying a court in setting aside the decree so obtained. Public interest requires that no spouse be defrauded by the other in obtaining a decree of divorce. More importantly, when fraud is properly pleaded, it is not important whether the decree is entered after litigation or by consent.

Bayles v. Bayles, 1999 UT App 128, ¶ 16, 981 P.2d 403 (internal marks and citations omitted); *see Kelley v. Kelley*, 2000 UT App 236, ¶ 57, 9 P.3d 171 (holding that in Utah divorce proceedings, fraud, deceit, and perjury constitute a fraud upon the court); *Masters v. Worsley*, 777 P.2d 499, 500-03 (Utah App. 1989) (holding that because actionable torts between married people should not be litigated in a divorce proceeding, an independent cause of action could be maintained).

Utah courts have long recognized that “[m]any cases . . . find[] a ground for setting aside final divorce decrees, since present in a great many of the cases are fraudulent misrepresentations to, or concealments from either the other spouse or the court, or both, which have brought the particular case within the rule that a

judgment may be attacked in a proper proceeding and set aside for fraud.”

Johnson v. Johnson, 116 Utah 27, 207 P.2d 1036, 1038-39 (Utah 1949) (citing cases).

The elements of a claim for fraudulent misrepresentation are:

(1) a representation; (2) concerning a presently existing material fact; (3) which was false; (4) which the representor either (a) knew to be false, or (b) made recklessly, knowing that he had insufficient knowledge upon which to base such representation; (5) for the purpose of inducing the other party to act upon it; (6) that the other party, acting reasonably and in ignorance of its falsity; (7) did in fact rely upon it; (8) and was thereby induced to act; (9) to his injury and damage.

Larsen v. Exclusive Cars, Inc., 97 P.3d 714, 716, 2004 UT App 259 ¶ 7; *see Masters*, 777 P.2d at 501-02. Here, the trial court held that Mr. Dobson “has established the elements of fraud, as a matter of law, and is therefore entitled summary judgment.” (R. 751.)

The trial court correctly determined that Ms. Cooper had knowingly made a false representation concerning a presently existing material fact when she “repeatedly misrepresented her medical condition, including indicating that she had been diagnosed with advanced stages of cancer.” (R. 752.) Ms. Cooper told Tamera Dobson that she had a stage 3 ½ melanoma. (R. 309.) Ms. Cooper represented, through her legal counsel at the time, that she had “cancerous melanoma.” (R. 721-22.) On December 31, 2003, Ms. Cooper represented to

Judge Henriod, and the Third District Court via Affidavit, that she had been “recently diagnosed with stage three melanoma cancer.” (R. 379.) She indicated this required surgery to remove a growth from her thyroid. (*Id.*) In e-mail messages to Mr. Dobson, Ms. Cooper indicated that she would treat her melanoma in Dallas. (R. 340-41.) Ms. Cooper told Tamara Dobson she would need to undergo chemotherapy in Dallas. (R. 310.) Ms. Cooper told Mr. Dobson in January of 2004 that her cancer was advanced to a stage four and that it was in her thyroid and that she might not live. (R. 392-93, R. 323.)

At the Motion for Summary Judgment hearing, Mr. Stirba correctly argued that:

. . . She was claiming that she had Stage 3 melanoma. She didn’t have Stage 3 melanoma, she never has had melanoma, period. She did have a growth or a - - a - - (inaudible) on her back, which was removed, which obviously, it’s a mole, obviously, the doctor is always somewhat suspicious of the possibility that there might be some cancerous tissue in the mole. . . . She has never had melanoma. . . .

. . . [M]elanoma is a very specific term. Look in any medical dictionary and it will tell you, it’s a cluster of malignant cells. That’s what it is, it’s cancer. She’s never had cancer, she’s never had treatment for cancer, she’s never been diagnosed with cancer. She doesn’t have any of those medical phenomena whatsoever.

So, to suggest that somehow she has a melanoma and keep saying she has a melanoma, is patently false. And that’s one of the problems here because she submits an affidavit back in December of ’03, I believe, to the Court for purposes of opposing temporary

support and she basically, without any equivocation, she said that, ‘I was recently diagnosed with Stage 3 melanoma cancer.’ Patently, clearly false. It’s a lie. And it’s an affidavit to the Court.

She then goes on to say, This has required surgery, including surgery to remove a growth on my thyroid. That’s absolutely false. That’s absolutely false. In her deposition, she testified [it] never happened.

(R. 773, pages 4-6.)

On appeal, Ms. Cooper abandons the “I have cancer” line of facts, which interestingly is all Mr. Dobson plead as a representation, and now tries to mislead this Court that the alleged “fraudulent misrepresentation” is that she said she was “going to die.” (Brief of Appellant at 27-29.) Mr. Dobson is at a loss as to how – suddenly – on appeal, an entirely new alleged “fraudulent misrepresentation” comes forth *from the Defendant*. The fraudulent misrepresentation is, and always has been, Ms. Cooper’s undisputed and repeated misrepresentation of her medical condition of having melanoma cancer. However, Ms. Cooper did indicate to Judge Henriod that she “was in very precarious health[.]” (R. 379.) She also did testify in her deposition that Dr. Clayton told her if they had not found the non-cancerous mole that she would be dead in a year. (R. 322.) It is very likely this was also a false representation by Ms. Cooper.

The fact is that Ms. Cooper did not have melanoma cancer, and she knew she didn’t have melanoma cancer. The fact is she lied. This analysis does not

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